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Chairman Sprinkle: 
[Roll was called.  Rules and protocols were explained.]  Is there anything from the 
Committee before we get started?  [There was nothing.]  Is there any public comment?  
[There was none.]  We will get started with our presentation on aging and disability services 
in Nevada.  
 
Edward Ableser, Ph.D., Administrator, Aging and Disability Services Division, 

Department of Health and Human Services: 
We are going to share with you what it is that we do for seniors across the state.  We do quite 
a bit to help those who are in need.  
  
Jill Berntson, Deputy Administrator, Aging and Disability Services Division, 

Department of Health and Human Services: 
My presentation today is about elder issues in Nevada.  I wanted to start with where the 
information in this presentation came from.  We submit a state plan every four years to the 
federal government's Administration for Community Living.  Our current state plan for aging 
services was due last July, and the federal government approved it in October.  A lot of the 
information in this presentation comes from our work while developing our state plan.  A lot 
of the information comes from the great work done by experts in the field, right here in 
Nevada, who serve on our Subcommittee Concerning Legislative Issues for the Nevada 
Commission on Aging.  Another big piece of that information comes from the elders 
themselves.  About a year ago, a few staff members and I went throughout Nevada to visit 
senior center sites.  There were 21 total sites and 1 in every county.  We held focus groups 
with seniors to talk about the gaps in services and what they think the issues are.  That really 
guides our state plan, the services we provide, and the things we are concerned about.   
 
I wanted to start by first giving you some demographics on slide 2 (Exhibit C) so that you 
have an idea about the number of seniors in our state.  When I talk about seniors or elders, 
I am referring to people who are 60 years of age and older.  If you look at the slide, it shows 

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Assembly/HHS/AHHS181C.pdf


Assembly Committee on Health and Human Services 
February 17, 2017 
Page 3 
 
the number of seniors by county.  As of the last population estimates, there are over 
516,000 people in Nevada over the age of 60 years.  I think it is important to know that over 
the last six decades, Nevada has had the highest population growth rate in the country.  
In this last decade, we had a 56 percent increase in people over the age of 60 in our state.  
Nationally, that number is only 22 percent.  We have many seniors in our state.  It is fair to 
say that funding has not kept up with that.  It is also important to know that about 9 percent 
of the seniors in our state live below the federal poverty level.  They also live with 
disabilities.  About 26 percent of people between the ages of 65 and 74 have a disability.  For 
people over the age of 75, it goes up to 48 percent.   
 
The rest of my presentation is going to be around the issues that we have identified.  They 
fall into several different categories.  The first one is access to services, which is a very broad 
topic.  I would mostly like to talk today about waiting lists.  There are waiting lists for some 
very important programs.  These include transportation programs, homemaker programs, and 
housing programs, but the two that I am going to talk about today are the Home and 
Community Based Waiver for the Frail Elderly and home-delivered meals.   
 
Slide 3 (Exhibit C) is about access to services in our Home and Community Based Waiver 
for the Frail Elderly (HCBW-FE).  This shows you the number of people that we are serving 
and the number of people that we project to need the service.  I wanted to talk a little about 
HCBW-FE.  It is a program that assists seniors who are at risk of nursing home placement by 
providing them services in the home to help keep them at home.  This might be sending 
someone to the house to help with bathing, housekeeping, grocery shopping, and meal 
preparation. 
 
The other important service that is provided through that program is case management.  
We have social workers statewide who go out to the homes, do an assessment with the 
person, and determine what services are needed to help keep them out of a home and out of 
an institution.  That case management is a big component of what we do because it helps 
direct all of the services.  We had a case out in a rural area where one of our recipients was 
living in a mobile home that was dumped on a sand lot.  The social worker went into the 
home, and it was just an empty shell.  There were no walls, the wiring was exposed, the 
bathroom was exposed, there were no closets, and there were no cabinets for her belongings.  
The social worker was immediately able to get home-delivered meals set up because the 
woman was afraid to cook because of the exposed wiring.  The other important, long-term 
part of this is that she worked with the local senior housing committee to get her into an 
apartment.  The social worker also worked with a community church that was able to help 
the woman with moving.  The social worker was able to meet the woman's immediate needs 
as well as long-term goals, which is a huge piece of the case management that we provide.  
 
I also wanted to talk about case management in regards to Medicaid and managed care.  
I know you heard from them last week, and they explained how this past year we have 
looked at expanding managed care to other populations.  The elderly is one of the 
populations that is considered in that study.  I participated on a majority of the focus groups 
throughout the state when we helped Medicaid talk to stakeholders about concerns or wishes 
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for whether or not we go to managed care.  I mentioned this because we did hear from the 
consumers on the HCBW-FE that they had concerns about what case management would 
look like if that program went to managed care.  If that happened, managed care would be the 
case management provider and the state would no longer do that.  
 
Case management is such an important piece of the health, safety, and welfare of the person.  
The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) require that the waivers are 
reviewed every year.  In our last review, there was a 100 percent satisfaction noted with the 
case management provided.  There are waiting lists for this program.  You will see that in our 
budget requests we have addressed these waitlists and caseload projections.  The other thing 
you will see throughout this session is that accessing services through this waiver can 
sometimes be difficult because getting the appropriate providers is difficult.  Provider rates 
for these services have not been increased in many years; there are several bills in regards 
to that.   
 
The next slide (slide 4, Exhibit C) regarding access to services is really about food security.  
I am going to talk about home-delivered meals.  You will think of home-delivered meals as 
Meals on Wheels America, but that is actually a service trade name.  The service name is 
actually home-delivered meals.  Food security is so important for seniors.  They are living on 
fixed incomes and have difficulty deciding what to spend their money on.  Do they spend it 
on food, utilities, rent, or prescriptions?  Access to food can be a barrier when they are living 
on limited incomes.  Food security is important because it helps prevent chronic diseases.  
People with poor quality eating patterns have problems with cardiovascular disease, high 
blood pressure, type 2 diabetes, some cancers, and poor bone health.  It is important that they 
receive good nutrition.  Sometimes a meal is the only thing a person needs to keep them out 
of an institution.  Economically, it makes more sense for the state to provide that meal than to 
pay for care in an institution.  This last fiscal year, we provided home-delivered meals to 
8,522 seniors.  The other thing we see in this area is people often have difficulty choosing 
between whether to feed their pets or themselves.  Some of the senior center sites that deliver 
the meals have collaborated with community partners to provide pet food.  When they deliver 
the meals, they will also bring bags of dog or cat food so that the seniors have pet food as 
well.  You will also see an enhancement to fund home-delivered meals in our budget request 
because there are waiting lists for those programs.  There is also a bill draft request (BDR) in 
regards to home-delivered meals.  
 
Slide 5 (Exhibit C) discusses suicide rates in Nevada.  Unfortunately, Nevada has one of the 
highest geriatric suicide rates. You will see on the slide that we are almost double the 
national average.  Since 2001, seniors in Nevada have died from suicide at an astounding 
rate, nearly twice the rate seen at the national level.  A shocking fact is that 1 in 4 suicide 
attempts results in death and approximately 60 percent of seniors who commit suicide saw 
their doctor within the last month.  I am not going to pretend to know what training 
physicians get, but if 60 percent of these seniors who are committing suicide have seen their 
doctors in the last month, we could probably do better.  There is a bill on this as well.  
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We provide funding to senior centers that go out to senior center sites and provide training on 
suicide prevention.  Another part of that is that it is estimated that 20 to 25 percent of 
individuals 65 years and older have a mental health disorder.  That is often compounded by 
chronic physical diseases.  Untreated mental health issues frequently result in poor health 
outcomes along with increased health care utilization, levels of disability and impairment, 
stress on the caregivers, mortality, and suicide.  
 
The map on slide 6 (Exhibit C) represents the prevalence of Alzheimer's disease.  It is 
expected to rise by 44 percent by the year 2025.  Dementia affects 1 in 9 people at the age 
of 65 and almost 50 percent of people aged 85 and over.  An individual with dementia can 
experience cognitive and behavioral symptoms that benefit from specialized interventions.  
It is important that we continue to fund programs that assist people in these areas.  We have a 
number of programs including Care Partners Reaching Out (CarePRO), the Savvy Caregiver 
program, and others that provide specific kinds of education and training to people with 
Alzheimer's, or dementia, along with their caregivers and family members.  I cannot stress 
enough the importance of the training around those programs.  When I was out in the field, 
I worked with a family in which the husband was the caregiver to his wife who had 
Alzheimer's disease.  While I was there, she was really upset and thought that she had blood 
on her hands.  The husband got up, got a washcloth, wet it, wiped her hands, and told her it 
was going to be okay.  That does not come naturally for everyone.  Most people want to say 
that there is no blood.  The point is that the training is so significant because people need to 
learn those kinds of skills.  That helps reduce a situation that could easily be escalated by 
other behavioral problems.  You will see a couple of bills in regards to behavioral health.  
This session, there is also a bill to extend the Task Force on Alzheimer's Disease that is due 
to sunset at the end of June. 
 
Family caregivers are another issue regarding seniors that needs to be discussed.  Slide 7 
(Exhibit C) discusses the numbers of family caregivers in Nevada.  About 65 percent of older 
adults living with long-term care needs are receiving services from a family member.  This 
points to the need for the training of family caregivers so that they do not end up in situations 
where they are providing assistance for personal care, medication management, or wound 
care with no experience.  If they do not have training, it will be difficult to provide the care 
for the cognitive issues and other care needs that seniors have.  Through Nevada Care 
Connection, we have aging and disability resource centers.  These centers play a vital role in 
supporting family caregivers.  People tend to think about our aging and disability resource 
centers as information and referral services, but it is much more than that.  They provide 
counseling opportunities to caregivers where they sit down with them, talk through what their 
needs are, and help them access the right services.  Many times, people do not know what to 
ask for because they do not know what is available.  They come with a problem with their 
utility bill, and their problem is actually that they need all of these other services.  That was 
one of the things we saw when we did the focus groups through all of the senior centers.  
People talked about not knowing what services are out there.  There are many services 
available, but people do not know about them.  The aging and disability resource centers play 
a vital role in that.   
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Slide 8 (Exhibit C) shows statistics regarding elder abuse.  We have social workers statewide 
who perform investigations.  Sometimes people think about that as being the same as Child 
Protective Services, so I wanted to clarify this.  In Elder Protective Services, we do not have 
the authority to remove an elder from a situation.  We assess the situation and work with the 
senior to mitigate or alleviate the abusive situation.  What we do from there varies 
widely; they direct what services they want.  It can be frustrating for us and for the 
community when the caregiver wants something done, but the elder does not want to do 
anything.  In those cases, we work very strongly with the person to try to help mitigate or 
alleviate the abuse.  We also work with law enforcement.  
 
In 2011, we transferred protective services form Clark County to the state.  Prior to that, in 
Nevada, protective services were provided by the state, but Clark County had their own 
protective services program.  Now we are responsible for elder protective services 
throughout the entire state.  We worked with national experts and developed a national best 
practice standard for Nevada.  We developed ancillary services to be able to provide services 
to seniors in abusive situations—for example, having emergency money available to pay for 
situations where the elderly have been exploited.  Maybe they do not have money to pay their 
rent, so they can use this to avoid losing their home.  We have money for temporary 
assistance for displaced seniors.  If they are in an abusive situation and they want to move, 
we can relocate them.  We have also developed many collaborative partnerships with law 
enforcement, the Office of the Attorney General, and district attorneys' offices throughout the 
state.  We open an average of 479 cases of elder abuse per month.  One of the things we 
struggle with in that program is staff vacancies.  It is a difficult job; therefore, the staff 
turnover is high.  We are working with our Department to work on an initiative to help with 
that.  We need to strengthen the laws around elder abuse; there is a BDR that addresses 
provisions in the elder abuse law.   
 
The other issue regarding legal rights is people in long-term care facilities.  We have a Long 
Term Care Ombudsman Program (LTCOP) that assists seniors in long-term care facilities 
with advocacy or, if they have complaints about their care, they can contact the advocate and 
an ombudsman will go out and assist them.  You will see on slide 9 (Exhibit C) the types of 
complaints we get.  The most frequent one is about dignity and respect.  For example, 
someone may be assisting a senior in a nursing facility with changing his or her brief and the 
caregiver does not close the curtain or door, and someone walks by.  Another example is that 
they go to physical therapy and they are taken in their nightgown.  I do not go to physical 
therapy in my nightgown; why should they go to physical therapy in their nightgowns?  You 
will see that there are also BDRs and bills about the LTCOP as well.  
 
Homa S. Woodrum, Chief Advocacy Attorney, Aging and Disability Services Division, 

Department of Health and Human Services:  
I recently relocated up here from Clark County.  I have about ten years of experience as an 
attorney dealing with guardianships, specifically, extreme cases of financial and other 
exploitation.  This is something you have all heard about and it has been in the news, but we 
have to be thinking about the individual at the center of all of these cases.  It is not really an 
issue of guardianship; it is an issue of how to make decisions for individuals who should feel 
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empowered.  It is not an on/off switch.  We cannot say, "Oh you have this diagnosis, now we 
are going to take away a laundry list of rights."  We have to be able to consider alternatives.  
We have to be looking at other ways to assist members of the community.   
 
I know the Second Judicial District has recently received a modest grant, but we need to 
study supportive decision-making agreements.  We should be focused on how we can help 
people best plan for their care and safety without reaching a point where the guardianship is a 
failure of planning.  If we had a state plan and strong community networks, people should be 
allowed to remain in their home or whatever dynamic they would like to have.  
 
Think about the decisions you regularly make; then think about decisions specific to aging, 
such as dealing with convoluted insurance, Medicaid, Medicare, and social security.  
Consider how disability overlays with aging and the need to make sure that people have a 
voice, how they are represented, and how we can address that.  I know 
Assemblyman Sprinkle has been very much involved with some of these issues.  There was 
the Commission to Study the Administration of Guardianships in Nevada's Courts, which 
lasted even longer than anticipated with work that still needed to be done.  I think it is 
because these issues deal with every aspect of daily living, including where people live, the 
choices they make, who they want to see, and how their money is spent.  We hear about the 
saddest stories, but we also want to hear about the success stories.  We do not want to create 
a situation where it is difficult for that family caregiver to take care of mom or dad.  You do 
not want someone who has extremely burdensome circumstances to say they would rather 
not help because of reporting requirements, especially if you consider the poverty levels of 
this population.  
 
Another legal issue is wrongful guardianships in which we are not meeting the medical 
thresholds and the due process thresholds [page 10 (Exhibit C)].  I always caution people to 
think about the fact that the laws on paper may look very good, but we have to consider how 
they are being applied, how the people who are running into issues are being treated by the 
system, and what the best outlet is for them.  A perfect example of this is seniors who, when 
they are lonely or isolated, become involved in sweetheart scams and begin sending money 
to places and people all over.  We contact Western Union, and they say they cannot stop 
them from sending money.  Then we contact the courts, and the courts say that they are 
making a poor choice, but that we need to figure out how to protect them from this.  We want 
there to be procedural safeguards before we reach the ultimate stage of guardianship.  There 
are quite a few BDRs and bills floating around.  There is the "Bill of Rights" related to 
guardianships from southern Nevada.  Barbara Buckley was instrumental in presenting this to 
the statewide commission chaired by Justice Hardesty.  You can definitely see the respect, 
and that the elderly population is cherished by the people of Nevada.  
 
I have also included relocation, which is a huge problem.  People do not want to leave their 
homes.  I know there is a financial component.  You could tell someone that they can live a 
certain number of years in a long-term care facility, but they might say that their choice is to 
live one year at home.  We have to empower people and look at ways to assist them in being 
informed about their rights.  We have a lot of high profile, unresolved Clark County cases.  
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There has been considerable work done on those, but you have to remember that any 
legislation that comes forth now does not necessarily give teeth to the prior framework of 
guardianship.  It is something to be creative about and to work with our community partners 
on, especially the police, the Office of the Attorney General, and the district 
attorneys' offices.  
 
Looking at the criminal components of these cases, you cannot take away someone's entire 
assets and say that you have a civil claim.  Statute says that there is double and triple 
recovery and that would be great, but the money is gone and the person does not have the 
money for depositions or complex litigation.  The funding and the framework are in law 
enforcement, but the tricky side on their end is that you have someone who does not 
necessarily have the capacity to testify.  That is important to look at while raising the 
penalties associated with elder abuse, especially considering that offenders are taking 
advantage of the most vulnerable people.  These are difficult cases to charge, and many of 
these people are repeat offenders.  It could be with grandma, then an aunt, and then a friend 
down the street.   
 
Isolation is a big factor as well.  Telling someone that no one cares and that no one is going 
to be there for him or her is very difficult for them to hear.  We had cases where someone 
was brought to the bank and told that if they did not sign over a check, they would not be 
taken for groceries.  We have to be reaching out to people and addressing those needs so that 
they are not at risk for that kind of interference.  As a division, we are tracking legislation 
very closely, especially for the interplay.  How do these things overlap with the ability of 
family caregivers to continue to give assistance?  If we are going to require publication of 
entire guardianship petitions, as suggested in one proposed bill, what is the expense 
involved?  How is this going to make it difficult to care for a grandmother or grandfather, or 
mother or father?  I am thrilled to be on board and assisting with those issues.  I think there is 
a long road ahead, but we have to remember that we have many great service provision 
frameworks to leverage and provide funding for.  
 
Chairman Sprinkle: 
Thank you for the presentation.  It is always good information for us to have as we move 
forward, especially with some of the things we will be hearing today.  
 
Assemblyman Yeager: 
I noted with interest some of the services that are provided, whether it is the home delivery of 
meals or just getting people set up.  You had mentioned particularly the woman in a 
nonfunctional trailer.  How do you get referrals?  How do you find these people, and what 
can we do as a legislature to make sure that we are getting the word out so that you learn 
about these people and are able to assist?  
 
Jill Berntson: 
We get referrals from family members, friends, neighbors, people themselves, hospitals, or 
physician offices.  
  



Assembly Committee on Health and Human Services 
February 17, 2017 
Page 9 
 
Assemblyman Thompson: 
On slide 4 (Exhibit C), you were talking about home-delivered meals.  This has been a huge 
topic during the interim session, especially in southern Nevada.  There has not been enough 
money.  I know that there is some money in the budget to make it happen, but it is not 
making it whole, it is a Band-Aid.  Who is eligible?  Do you look at income, or is it just that 
if you are 60 years old and older, you automatically get it?  What are some things that we can 
do to make this a long-term solution so that we are not coming back every year asking for a 
significant amount of money when we already know that this is our very vulnerable 
population?  
 
Jill Berntson:  
Your first question was about eligibility.  Everyone 60 years of age and older and determined 
to be homebound is eligible for the service.  Most of the funds that go to home-delivered 
meals come from the federal government, and the Older Americans Act (OAA) of 1965 does 
not allow for restrictions of financial eligibility for those programs.  
 
There are waiting lists for home-delivered meals and, as you have indicated, it is a Band-Aid 
to fix the waiting list problem.  The other big issue around home-delivered meals in our state 
is that Nevada is the lowest in the nation for the state share that goes toward home-delivered 
meals, which is embarrassing.  We are last in the nation for many things, but this is 
embarrassing.  There is a BDR looking to address that issue.  
 
Assemblyman Thompson: 
The BDR is just asking for dollars for this biennium, is that correct?  It is not to sustain it.  
 
Jill Berntson: 
There are two different things.  In our budget, there is an enhancement request for 
home-delivered meals, which will address some of the waiting list.  There is also a BDR 
which makes an appropriation to the Division for home-delivered meals, but I have not seen 
that yet, so I do not know what the language is.  
 
Assemblyman Carrillo: 
On page 5 (Exhibit C) of your presentation, you mentioned that 1 in 4 seniors die from 
suicide, is that correct?  
 
Jill Berntson: 
That was 1 in 4 suicide attempts resulting in death.  
 
Assemblyman Carrillo: 
With that being said, you mentioned that they had recently visited the doctor.  It is a concern 
that suicide does not just happen for medical reasons.  There was a recent case in Las Vegas 
where two individuals decided to go off the edge of a parking garage.  They had 
communicated that they were financially destitute and they could not apologize enough for 
getting themselves into that situation.  Is there anything being done to help this kind of 
situation?  Not everybody has disposable income, and they have no other recourse.  I know 
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you see the pamphlets at resorts that offer help for gambling problems.  Is there anything else 
such as public service announcements that are being put out there?  Seniors read the 
newspapers and watch the news.  It is not just visits to the doctor that cause this.   
 
Jill Berntson: 
The Nevada Office of Suicide Prevention does a lot of work around training and education 
throughout the state.  Specific to seniors, we have collaborated with the Office of Suicide 
Prevention to do trainings at senior centers.   
 
Edward Ableser:  
One of the things in which the Division is collaborating with the Department as a whole is an 
extensive effort of wraparound services for the larger populations that we serve.  One of 
those interventions is the Safe-to-Tell Program.  We are trying to parlay the Safe-to-Tell 
Program into ways to have neighbors or family members report anonymously to protect 
someone that they think might be in any danger or threat.  We are scaling that up this next 
year.  It will be a coordinated effort among our system and other systems.  We are making 
efforts towards a master client index that will allow multiple points of entry and touchpoints 
so that our systems are all interlinked and coordinated.  This way when we have providers, 
whether it is someone delivering meals at a home or a doctor at their office or a senior center 
visit, each person is able to articulate concerns or needs that the individual might have.  That 
can be articulated amongst the system as a whole.  That is the direction in which we are 
moving; we are not at the full scale yet.  
 
Chairman Sprinkle: 
Are you doing the same sort of outreach for mental health as well? 
 
Edward Ableser: 
Our Division does not fully encompass mental health services, but we are working in 
conjunction with the Division of Public and Behavioral Health (DPBH) and the Division of 
Child and Family Services (DCFS) in some situations to encourage the collaboration and 
delivery of services.  In terms of outreach, part of the direction is going to be the growth of a 
group that the Alzheimer's Association, our Nevada Seniors Coalition and other centers 
across the state are working towards.  I think what oftentimes becomes a difficult interaction 
is determining what is dementia and dementia-related issues and what is mental health.  
Oftentimes there are competing interests.  You addressed this at one point because you 
wanted specified services for our dementia and dementia-related issues.  Now, we do not 
have that overlap, and there is further segregation between dementia and mental health.  
We want to try to combine those and provide more wrap-around care for these individuals.  
It revolves around coordination between our divisions and the key stakeholders that represent 
mental illness and the ones that represent Alzheimer's disease and dementia-related 
conditions.  
 
Chairman Sprinkle: 
I have made it very clear that this is a major issue for me.  I would like to see greater 
communication and collaboration, especially for our senior population.  
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Assemblywoman Titus: 
On slide 2 (Exhibit C), you have listed the number of seniors per county, but you do not give 
us a percentage.  Perhaps you could get us some information on what the actual percent is 
related to the rest of the population in that age group.  It makes a difference.  Clark County 
clearly has a huge population, so it would be a significant number.  I think there are 
disproportionate numbers of seniors in certain counties.   
 
The graph on page 5 (Exhibit C) is impressive, but it is from 2009.  It says there is a 33 per 
100,000 population successful suicide rate in that period of time.  Since that time, I think 
Nevada has made some major changes, and I would be curious to see if there was some more 
current data on that.  That is antiquated data since the Affordable Care Act has been initiated. 
 
You talk about all of this opening up to people; well, how do people get the services?  I think 
the state has really improved on the concept that any agency should make sure that regardless 
of the call coming in, the first point of contact needs to have a checklist to refer them to the 
right person or program.  I think there has been a lot of improvement in regards to that.  
 
Assemblyman Oscarson: 
My question revolves around the senior nutrition program.  I know we have talked about this 
in great length over the interim, and I appreciate all of your input and help.  In our 
conversations, we have seen a vast disparity of what it costs to put together these 
home-delivered meals.  Sometimes it costs $5 to $6 per meal.  I am wondering if there is 
some mechanism you could employ or some resource you may have that would help 
standardize some of the packaging and equipment in order to get some volume pricing for the 
people who are struggling trying to put these together.  It could add some value to the 
process.  As we know, there are some budget restraints to those kinds of things, but maybe 
this could help it go a little bit further.   
 
At one point in time, when I was involved in senior centers, there was a consortium of 
directors that met on a regular basis, whether it was through teleconference or another 
mechanism, where they shared ideas, thoughts, and challenges.  I do not know if that is still 
in existence, but it was very valuable for those groups.  It was done by the Division, 
I believe.  They had quarterly meetings and then a monthly conference call.  It really made a 
difference, not only in the cohesiveness of the directors working together, but also in the 
resources they had available.  I was wondering if that was still in place.  
 
Jill Berntson: 
The consortium you mentioned did stop for a while, but we have been working with senior 
centers to get that up and going again.  In regards to your first question, we have been 
working with the Administration for Community Living on helping us determine a true cost 
for the meals so that we can use that data to work around some other ways to help with the 
home-delivered meal costs.  
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Edward Ableser:  
On top of that, this Division has already created certain steps to work with our social services 
in the counties on ways to expand their dollars even more to draw in more money for senior 
services or services for those with disabilities.  Obviously, counties like Clark County have a 
lot bigger buying power than a county like Nye, but there are opportunities in Nye County in 
which we might be able to find ways for us, as a division, and them, as a county, to parlay 
those dollars to maximize the Medicaid reimbursements.  It is something that we are scaling 
up.  We do not need statutory authority to do it; we are moving forward, and we have a lot of 
compliance based on counties.  Again, we have to see how the model looks and capitalize 
upon it as well.  
 
Assemblyman Oscarson: 
There were several meetings I was at where several senior center staff attended.  They were 
not aware that the food banks on both ends of the state could help with some of those things 
and some of the services that they need.  There are some opportunities for them to participate 
and work together for resources and food items.   
 
Edward Ableser:  
One of our priorities as a division is informal support being implemented across the board for 
many of our consumers.  This means using churches, food banks, and other informal 
resources before we get to the point of formalized support and cost supports.   
 
Assemblyman Edwards: 
How much support and coordination do you get from organizations such as 
Catholic Charities of Northern Nevada, the Salvation Army, food banks, and other 
religious-affiliated organizations that support elders and the poor?  Do you have any kind of 
breakdown of how much that amounts to?  
 
Edward Ableser: 
We have not been collecting that data in the past.  This is a bigger initiative in regards to how 
we coordinate services with informal and formalized supports.  It is data that we will be 
collecting moving forward.  We do know that churches, community centers, neighbors, and 
family members all contribute to the care of an individual.  Moving towards person-centered 
planning, we want to emphasize informal supports as part of that plan so that we can now 
capture it and track it to ensure the fidelity of that being delivered towards the individual so 
their needs do not go unmet.  That data will continue to come in; we do not have that as of 
now.  
 
Chairman Sprinkle: 
We will now open the hearing for Assembly Bill 20. 
 
Assembly Bill 20:  Revises provisions relating to services to assist persons with 

disabilities in obtaining employment.  (BDR 38-225) 
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Shelley Hendren, Administrator, Rehabilitation Division, Department of Employment, 

Training and Rehabilitation:  
The statutes most affected by this bill are Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS) Chapter 426 and 
NRS Chapter 615, which are the authorizing statutes for the state's vocational rehabilitation 
program.  They include the Bureau of Vocational Rehabilitation and the Bureau of Services 
to Persons Who Are Blind or Visually Impaired.  The mission of those agencies is to remove 
barriers for people with disabilities related to their employment.  The program removes 
barriers so that they can obtain, maintain, or even promote employment.  There are a variety 
of goods and services that we can provide to those individuals so that they can compete in the 
open, competitive job market, earn competitive wages, and work in integrated settings.  
Some of those services range from job search skills, resumés, mock interviews, job coaches, 
and job developers; and we provide training, certificate programs, even college educations 
when appropriate, and tools and credentials.  These are all related to the goal of competitive 
integrated employment.  
 
This bill has a lot of pieces and parts to it.  What I have done is divide it up into topic areas 
related to why some of these changes were made.  In the testimony that was submitted to you 
(Exhibit D), we point to the specific sections where those changes occur.  A lot of these are 
driven by the Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act (WIOA).  That was a major piece 
of federal legislation signed into law in July 2014, which had a major impact, especially in 
the state's vocational and rehabilitation programs.   
 
The first piece I will talk about is that WIOA gave states the ability to select to whom the 
U.S. Department of Education would issue the Rehabilitation Act, Part B funds, which are 
earmarked for independent living services.  Nevada's Aging and Disability Services 
Division (ADSD) operates an independent living program here in Nevada.  The Division's 
Bureau of Vocational Rehabilitation previously subgranted these funds to the Aging and 
Disability Services Division to administer within their independent living program.  With the 
changes in WIOA and with the agreement from all of the parties, Governor Sandoval made a 
request for those grant funds to go directly to the Aging and Disability Services Division for 
use in their program.  That request was approved.  Upon submission and approval of ADSD's 
State Plan for Independent Living, that change became effective on October 1, 2016.  
Section 16 of A.B. 20 removes the Rehabilitation Division as the designated state entity to 
receive the federal Part B funds; instead, those funds go directly to the Aging and Disability 
Services Division for its independent living program.  
 
The Bureau of Services to Persons Who Are Blind or Visually Impaired, (statutes are in 
NRS Chapter 426) previously operated a program called Life Skills until the 
2011 Legislative Session, when that funding was eliminated.  That program did not have 
federal funds; it was all State General Fund, and it was an independent living program.  It did 
not require an employment focus like all of the other programs within Vocational 
Rehabilitation.  The independent living services that are outlined in NRS Chapter 426 are 
specific to individuals who are blind, and the ones that were removed do not have the 
requirement that they be employment-seeking.  Therefore, there is no funding for those 
particular services within the Rehabilitation Division.  Sections 8, 10, 11 and 12 remove the 
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provisions regarding the unfunded independent living services within the services for the 
blind.  It also clarifies the roles, duties, and responsibilities of that bureau, which is 
vocational rehabilitation with competitive employment as the goal, per the Rehabilitation Act 
of 1973, and including all of the amendments to that act which includes Title IV of WIOA.   
 
The WIOA also had some other impacts.  It defined and emphasized "competitive, integrated 
employment" as the goal for states' vocational rehabilitation programs—that definition and 
this renewed emphasis of vocational rehabilitation being an employment program, a 
workforce program.  We included that focus within some of the sections in A.B. 20, 
including sections 2, 8, 10, 11, 12, 23, 24, 25, 26, and 31.  They all point toward the 
vocational focus of the program.  The definition of "competitive integrated employment," 
which comes out of Title IV of WIOA, has been added in sections 3, 21, and 25.  The use of 
that term will be used throughout A.B. 20 to describe the employment goals of the vocational 
rehabilitation program in both bureaus.  Sometimes it replaces the term "gainful occupation," 
which is what is currently in statute.  You will see that in sections 8, 10, 24, 26, 28, 29, 31, 
and section 41 as amended.  
 
Assembly Bill 20 also adds some "people first" language, replacing terms that are 
inappropriate to people with disabilities.  For example, the term "handicap" has been replaced 
with the term "impediment."  That term is consistent with what is used in the 
Rehabilitation Act, Code of Federal Regulations (CFR), Title 34.  We changed the 
terminology that says we will "render the individual fit" for employment to "prepare the 
individual" for employment.  You will see those changes in sections 26, 27, 28, and 29.   
 
Assembly Bill 20 also makes changes to the authorizing statutes governing the Bureau of 
Vocational Rehabilitation and the Bureau of Services to Persons Who Are Blind or Visually 
Impaired so that they are consistent between the two bureaus.  We wanted to have clarity and 
consistency between both of those bureaus as they have the same goal, which is to remove 
barriers so that people with disabilities can compete and become employed.  You will see 
language that is borrowed from NRS Chapter 615 moved into NRS Chapter 426 and vice 
versa.  Some language appropriate in NRS Chapter 426 was moved over into NRS 
Chapter 615 so that those two bureaus could be consistent.  Those are sections 2, 4, 5, 7, 8, 
23, and 31.   
 
Sections 13 and 40 of the proposed bill draft update and clarify confidentiality as it relates to 
client information and data that is gathered by both bureaus and kept within the bureaus and 
their case management system.  This is based upon 34 CFR as well as advice from the 
Office of the Attorney General as to the protection of that information and the only 
exceptions in which it could be released.  That is what is defined in those two sections.   
 
Assembly Bill 20 also adds language that authorizes the Division to create policies 
concerning the nature and the scope of vocational and rehabilitation services in both bureaus.  
This is also consistent with 34 CFR.  You will see that within sections 6, 16, 17, and 22.  
This bill draft clarifies the requirement that is already in policy and, as authorized in 34 CFR 
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requiring us to create policies and clarify the use of comparable services and benefits in 
certain circumstances.  You will see that in section 14.   
 
The last section has to do with eliminating all references and authority for the Bureau of 
Vocational Rehabilitation to operate rehabilitation facilities or workshops.  You will see that 
in sections 19, 32, 36, and 37.   
 
There is also a list at the back of the bill of actual repealed full sections.  All but one of those 
is related to this topic.  I wanted to go into it a little more so that you understand the thought 
process as to why we are proposing to remove that authority.  It is the opinion of the Division 
that the U. S.  Supreme Court decision in Olmstead v. L. C., 527 U.S. 581, 119 S. Ct. 2176 
(1999) and the decision by the Department of Justice in the case against the State of Oregon, 
Lane v. Kitzhaber, No. 3:12-cv-00138-ST., 841 F. Supp. 2d 119 (2012) mandate government 
agencies provide services, and in particular, employment services in the most integrated 
setting possible.  A Division-operated rehabilitation facility would in fact be a segregated 
setting and be contrary to the Americans with Disabilities Act and these recent court 
decisions.  In Lane, employment services for individuals with intellectual and developmental 
disabilities in particular included many facility-based sheltered workshops.  It was found that 
Oregon significantly over-relied on these segregated settings for persons with intellectual and 
developmental disabilities.   
 
A sheltered workshop is a segregated facility that exclusively or primarily employs persons 
with intellectual disabilities.  They are typically in institutional facilities—not always, but 
they can be.  In these settings, persons with intellectual and developmental disabilities have 
little or no contact with nondisabled persons besides paid staff and they typically earn wages 
that are subminimum wage.  By contrast, the supportive employment and other employment 
services that we deliver through Nevada's Bureau of Vocational Rehabilitation support 
individuals with disabilities, including those with intellectual and developmental disabilities, 
to work in typical jobs in the community at competitive wages.  These services enable 
individuals to access jobs in typical settings where they can interact with nondisabled 
coworkers, customers, and peers and enjoy the same benefits of employment as their 
nondisabled peers such as competitive wages, employee benefits, and the opportunity to 
advance. 
 
Lastly, in addition to these recent court cases, other states are being sued by the Department 
of Justice for violations of the ADA as per the Olmstead decision for systematically utilizing 
sheltered employment or workshops and not providing those services in an integrated setting 
when they have the ability to do so.  The Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act 
supports integration.  It defined it and included it as a requirement for a successful 
employment outcome for state vocational rehabilitation programs.  Therefore, in A.B. 20, we 
propose removing the authority for the Bureau of Vocational Rehabilitation to operate a 
rehabilitation facility or workshop for those reasons.  The Division has never exercised its 
authority to operate one of those programs, and there is no indication in the law that this ever 
would be or could be a choice that we would make in the future.   
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Lastly, the amendment was simply an oversight on our part.  Section 41 (Exhibit E) was not 
updated with the same and correct terminology that we are proposing throughout A.B. 20. 
There are two specific examples.  The change of "render an individual fit" to "prepare" was 
not included in section 40, mistakenly.  In addition, the change from "gainful occupation" to 
the new definition of "competitive integrated employment" was not included in section 41.  
Here is how section 41 would read to be consistent with A.B. 20.  Nevada Revised 
Statutes 616A.360, section 41 states, "'Vocational rehabilitation services' means any goods or 
services necessary to prepare an individual with a disability to engage in competitive 
integrated employment or to determine the rehabilitation potential of the individual."  
 
Assemblyman Thompson: 
You made a statement about removing some areas because they were unfunded mandates 
around independent living services.  If that is the case, are we saying that those independent 
living services are still not necessary?   
 
Shelley Hendren: 
Those sections were 8, 10, 11, and 12, and you can see what has been crossed out.  It is very 
specific language that talks about the ability to live independently as opposed to vocational 
rehabilitation.  It is not that those services are not needed; I do not want to misrepresent the 
gap in services as far as people needing services before they are ready to become employed.  
The idea was that the Aging and Disability Services Division would have an independent 
living program.  They have statutes and they have a budget.  When this bill was being 
written, the ability to cover the particular items that we could not cover was discussed with 
management.  I will also add that the Vocational Rehabilitation Program can provide some of 
these services if they are in fact linked to employment.  If someone is truly seeking 
employment, or they are ready for employment and one or more of these might be a barrier to 
employment, we can still provide that service, but we cannot provide it if they are not 
employment seeking.  
 
Assemblyman Yeager: 
I had a couple of questions in section 10.  The first one is section 10, subsection 3, where 
there is a change that indicates that a person must be eligible for services under federal law.  
Is there anyone who might be captured under that who might have otherwise been eligible for 
services under the way the law exists now but would not be eligible under the federal 
definition?  
 
Shelley Hendren: 
The eligibility requirements have not changed, and they have always been based upon the 
Rehabilitation Act of 1973, which established vocational rehabilitation programs nationwide.  
Adding that language to the term "federal law" does not change who would or would not be 
eligible for the program.   
  

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Assembly/HHS/AHHS181E.pdf


Assembly Committee on Health and Human Services 
February 17, 2017 
Page 17 
 
Assemblyman Yeager: 
I see a strike through the definition of "necessary expenses."  Could you let me know what 
the thought was there in terms of removing that provision and whether the removal of that 
provision would necessarily preclude those types of services that are being struck through?  
 
Shelley Hendren: 
They definitely have a focus on independent living as opposed to vocational rehabilitation or 
employment.  Some of those services are not something that we can pay for in the Vocational 
Rehabilitation Program; some of them we could.  For example, the Vocational Rehabilitation 
Program would not pay for nursing home care.  That was previously paid for out of the 
Life Skills Program.  As I said, some of the things we are able to provide for certain medical 
interventions if they are related to a barrier to employment.  We have removed the language 
that points very specifically here to subservices we cannot provide and the independent living 
component.   
 
Assemblywoman Titus: 
I think these services do need to happen; a lot of this is just clarifying language.  It should not 
cost the state or local governments any money.  In fact, it may save us some money in the 
long run.  Is that your understanding also, that this is just a cleanup bill, and it should not 
have any fiscal component?  
 
Shelly Hendren: 
Yes, that was our opinion from the beginning.  It is mostly a lot of cleanup and removing a 
program that is unfunded within the Vocational Rehabilitation Program and exists elsewhere 
within the state.  
 
Chairman Sprinkle: 
Under section 16, at the very end there is strike-out language on the top of page 8.  In your 
presentation, is the reason that the Rehabilitation Division is being removed as the designated 
state unit due to the Olmstead decision? 
 
Shelley Hendren: 
No, the first item that I addressed had to do with a grant from the Department of Education 
that was transferred federally to the Department of Health and Human Services.  It was 
specifically for independent living, and it was our Part B grant funds.  We used to subgrant 
that to the Aging and Disability Services Division.  With the move in the federal government 
to Health and Human Services, we made the request to move that grant directly to the Aging 
and Disability Services Division.  That is why that is removed; we are no longer the 
designated state entity just for that grant of the Part B funds for independent living.  
 
Chairman Sprinkle: 
Under section 36 there is more strike-out language regarding money earned going to the 
Account for Rehabilitation Facilities in the State General Fund.  Could you explain where 
that money would go if it is not going to the State General Fund? 
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Shelley Hendren: 
That is one of the sections related to a bureau-operated rehabilitation facility.  If we had one, 
which we do not, and earned money from that sheltered employment, this section tells us 
what we could do with those funds.  We do not operate a workshop, and we have asked for 
all of the language related to rehabilitation facilities in these statutes to be removed.  That is 
why that language is struck through. 
 
Chairman Sprinkle: 
Under section 42, regarding payments, is that the same answer? 
 
Shelley Hendren: 
Yes, it has to do with if we chose to operate a rehabilitation facility or workshop.  
 
Chairman Sprinkle: 
Thank you for your presentation. Is there anyone in support of this bill?  [There was no one.]  
Is there anyone in opposition to this bill?  [There was no one.]  Is there anyone speaking in 
neutral to this bill?  
 
Ed Guthrie, CEO Emeritus, Opportunity Village, Las Vegas, Nevada: 
Opportunity Village provides assessment, training, and employment services to youths and 
adults with intellectual and developmental disabilities.  In 2016, Opportunity Village 
provided those services to over 1,800 youths and adults.  This number does not include the 
people who attend our recreation events and the many other individuals who receive 
advocacy and referral services.  If we included all of those people, Opportunity Village 
served about 3,500 people this year.  We have some written testimony that was submitted to 
you (Exhibit F), but we support many of the provisions of A.B. 20.  However, we have 
concerns with the definition of "competitive integrated employment" if the definition to be 
used is the definition in the CFR.  Congress spent months constructing a definition and then 
some well-intentioned but overzealous bureaucrats put a definition in the regulations that is 
much more restrictive than Congress intended.  That definition would jeopardize 
good-paying jobs on contracts with federal, state, and local governments through the 
AbilityOne program and the Preferred Purchase program at the state level.  
Congresswoman Dina Titus was so concerned that she sent a letter to the Commissioner of 
the Rehabilitation Services Administration of the U.S. Department of Education that said, "I 
am specifically concerned about the Department's current definition of 'competitive 
integrated employment . . . . If the language is not amended, it would impact more than 
100,000 people with disabilities nationwide including hundreds in Nevada."  Senator Heller 
was also very concerned and sent a similar letter that said, "The Department of Education's 
definition of 'competitive integrated employment' doubles down on the one-size-fits-all 
approach . . . and puts at risk Nevada jobs that are going to individuals who may otherwise 
not have access to employment and benefits."  
 
We urge the Committee and the Legislature to use the definition of "competitive integrated 
employment" that Congress crafted in the original act rather than the more restrictive 
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definition substituted by the Rehabilitation Services Administration of the U. S. Department 
of Education.   
 
Thank you for your support.  We look forward to working with you this session to improve 
the lives of people with disabilities.  
 
Chairman Sprinkle: 
Is there anyone else in southern Nevada that wishes to speak in neutral to this bill?  [There 
was no one.]  Is there anyone in the north?  [There was no one.]  
 
Shelley Hendren: 
We really appreciate Opportunity Village and the services that they provide.  Mr. Guthrie and 
I have had this discussion before about the definition of "competitive integrated 
employment."  The definition that we have asked to be incorporated into these statutes is the 
definition that we are being held to by the federal government with regard to the Vocational 
Rehabilitation Program.  To be perfectly honest, I am not sure that we have a choice to 
deviate from that definition.  Thank you for your time. 
 
Chairman Sprinkle: 
Thank you for your presentation today.  I will close the hearing on A.B 20 and will open the 
hearing on Assembly Bill 31.  
 
Assembly Bill 31:  Revises provisions relating to the Specialist for the Rights of Elderly 

Persons and the Community Advocate for Elder Rights.  (BDR 38-130) 
 
Jill Berntson, Deputy Administrator, Aging and Disability Services Division, 

Department of Health and Human Services: 
This is our agency bill.  What we seek to do is expand the role of two distinct programs 
within the Aging and Disability Services Division; one is the Office of the Specialist for the 
Rights of Elderly Persons and the other is the Office of Community Advocate for Elder 
Rights. What we want to do is expand their role to include serving people of any age.  
Currently in statute, it limits them to serving people who are 60 years of age and older.   
 
I am going to talk first about the Specialist for the Rights of Elderly Persons, but I also 
wanted to say that we believe this bill constitutes good public policy because it falls in line 
with our mission to serve people across the life span.  It also is in line with the state's 
commitment to transform access to information and services to people through a "no wrong 
door approach" for all populations.  Expanding the role of the Specialist for the Rights of 
Elderly Persons will allow for advocacy and education relating to legal rights of persons with 
disabilities of all ages to include facilitating the development of legal services to assist in 
securing and maintaining their legal rights.  The other thing is that it will allow for the review 
of existing and proposed policies, regulations, and legislation that affects people with 
disabilities of all ages, as well as the ability to review and analyze information relating to the 
nature and extent of abuse, neglect, isolation, exploitation, and abandonment of persons with 
disabilities.  The other thing the bill does is add language to provide for the technical 
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assistance and training for groups that advocate for older persons and persons with 
disabilities.  It also adds language to add this position as the State legal assistance developer.  
This position has already acted in that role.  It is a requirement of the Older Americans Act; it 
just was not spelled out in statute before.  
 
Now I will speak to expanding the role of the Community Advocate for Elder Rights.  Just to 
give you some perspective, we have two and a half community advocates in our Division 
statewide who provide this service.  Expanding their role will allow us to coordinate for 
resources and services available for persons with disabilities of all ages, including the 
dissemination of information of national and local interest to persons with disabilities, and 
including information regarding the services of the Community Advocate for Elder Rights.  
Our community advocates often act as the safety net for people who have special 
circumstances that they need help with, including special emergency concerns, one-time 
assistance, help with landlord/tenant issues, paying a utility bill, or referral to other services.  
Those problems are not just limited to people over the age of 60; they are also problems that 
people under the age of 60 with disabilities face.  In current statute, the law limits us to 
providing those services to people over 60.  We would like to address that gap and provide it 
to people of all ages.  
 
I can quickly walk you through the bill.  I can also talk about the changes.  Page 2 and the top 
of page 3 discuss the definition of persons with disabilities.  It is intended to be all-inclusive 
so it means people with physical disabilities and people with intellectual disabilities and 
related conditions.  The rest of page 3 is just title changes.  The position was formerly known 
as the Specialist for the Rights of Elderly Persons.  We changed "Elderly" to "Older" to 
match other language throughout the Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS).  The new name is the 
"Office of Attorney for the Rights of Older Persons and Persons with a Physical Disability, 
an Intellectual Disability or a Related Condition."  We need to come up with a better working 
title; I think we came up with Advocacy Attorney.  On page 4, all of those are name changes 
except for line 10, which is the addition of the language where I talked about adding 
language so that that position can provide technical assistance and training to advocacy 
groups for older persons and persons with disabilities.  Page 5 is name changes except for 
line 19, which is what I talked about in adding the language to allow the position to be the 
State legal assistance developer as required by the Older Americans Act.  Page 6 is all name 
change.  Page 7 is mostly name change except for lines 24 through 27.  That is where it gives 
authority for the Administrator to direct the Community Advocate for Elder Rights to 
provide services to people under the age of 60 who do not reside in a long-term care facility.  
The reason for that language is because the people in long-term care facilities are covered by 
our State Long-Term Care Ombudsman Program.  Page 8 just has a name change on it.   
 
Homa S. Woodrum, Chief Advocacy Attorney, Aging and Disability Services Division, 

Department of Health and Human Services:  
I am the Advocacy Attorney.  I think empowering the underlying authority is crucial.  
I began with the Division last month after a career as an elder law attorney in private 
practice.  My clients included people facing guardianship, guardians, and protectors, to name 
a few.  I am also a disability rights advocate in my private life, having worked extensively 
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with the late Senator Debbie Smith regarding food allergy advocacy and access to 
epinephrine.  I mention this to highlight how intertwined issues facing older persons in our 
state are with the health and well-being of community members across the life span.  
Sally Ramm, the predecessor attorney to this position, recognized these very overlaps when 
she assisted in drafting the integral provisions of this agency bill.  How frustrating it must 
have been to come across opportunities for advocacy within the Division, but to be limited in 
the good to be done.  In other words, using many of the same contacts, expertise, and time, 
A.B. 31 allows my Governor-appointed role to expand without any extra costs.  In a position 
that centers on rules and rulemaking, it is crucial to have a written mandate for this role that 
would in turn signal Nevada's continuing commitment to the rights of our most vulnerable 
citizens.  Essentially, we are seeking the authority to help wherever help is needed and not be 
limited by the age of the person who is the subject of the need.   
 
Assemblyman Thompson: 
Section 3 discusses the definition of a person with a physical disability.  In A.B. 20 we were 
changing language from "handicap" to "impediment."  That is totally different than talking 
about disability.  Can you clarify all of that?  It would be nice for everything to have the 
same language.  
 
Homa Woodrum:  
I think what is interesting in the language that is used regarding disability statutes is that 
there are a few that run as a family.  One of those phrases is "substantially limits."  You will 
consistently find in the ADA that we have substantial impairments of major life activities.  
This definition is meant to be as inclusive as possible.  I think that is why there is this 
particular approach.  You are correct in the sense that we would not take the definition from 
the other statute and put it into here because of the specificity of A.B. 31.  
 
Assemblyman Yeager: 
Congratulations on your new position, Ms. Woodrum.  I like what you are trying to do with 
this bill.  I will say that it is a bit unusual to have an agency come before us and ask for more 
work and not more resources.  It looks like by expanding the definition, I think your 
workload is going to increase, hopefully.  Are there any concerns about the capacity to 
handle that workload without any additional resources?  
 
Homa Woodrum: 
I think the key with A.B. 31 is to see it as two separate components.  We have the attorney 
component, and the unique aspect that the more work that can be done would benefit more 
people with less time.  If we are out training law enforcement about recognizing signs of 
exploitation, then we can also address issues that will carry through to the actual community 
component, where they are coming across these situations already.  They would be 
empowered to provide assistance.  
 
Jill Berntson: 
On the community advocate side, we integrated with Nevada Early Intervention Services, the 
Autism Assistance Treatment Program, and Developmental Disabilities two sessions ago.  At 
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that time, our administrator had directed us to start advocating for people of all ages.  We 
have been doing it, in all honesty.  The other piece of that is that we would like to develop a 
caseload for that program so that going forward, if we get more work, we can show a need 
for more staff if necessary.  
 
Assemblywoman Titus: 
In section 9, you absolutely expand the scope of the office.  With that comes increasing 
workload, and I, too, am concerned about that.  Will you be able to cover the workload?  
Your fiscal note is $0, and I am concerned that I will see this in a money committee because 
you will find out that it does require additional support to get the job done.  I think this is a 
great bill and it needs to be done, but again I am concerned that you are expanding the scope 
without any cost.  
 
Homa Woodrum: 
I think that it has to do with how all of the provisions play together.  I think the ability for the 
attorney advocate to turn around and train community groups is leveraging something that 
was not permitted before.  In a sense, you are allowing a certain investment of time to be 
expanded and to be preparing materials.  We have already had requests from the 
Eighth Judicial District Court about how they can put together training programs for 
attorneys to provide pro bono services.  There are many volunteer components here where 
people are willing and eager to help.  We need the ability to do so.  I think Miss Ramm 
recognized, through her years of service in this position, that she did not want to be stopped 
at that point because the attorney position does give certain rights of looking at records and 
looking at numbers.  The key thing to remember as well is that all of these policies are 
person-centric.  Do we have an individual potentially calling to ask for help with a specific 
legal question and does that cause the phones to blow up?  There is that question, but it is 
important to look at how we can screen calls and direct people to the correct resources.  We 
need to make sure people are aware of the resources that are out there.   
 
In private practice, I used to have cheat sheets.  If someone came to me with a particular 
domestic violence issue, I knew the resources I could point them towards.  I think that 
because it is an attorney advocating for the rights of individuals instead of actually 
representing individuals themselves, we are talking about policies of inclusion, integration, 
and community participation.  That does not inherently increase the workload.   
 
Chairman Sprinkle: 
Section 9, subsection 2, paragraph (e) talks about a person at risk of having a guardian 
appointed.  Would they not just go through the process of having a guardian appointed or a 
fiduciary?  Why is this a role that you feel your position would need to take on?   
 
Homa Woodrum: 
When I saw the prior version of this bill as I was applying for this position, I wondered if 
I would ever be the guardian of someone.  I spoke to Miss Ramm, and she indicated in her 
entire career, it had happened four times.  In a way, the addition of this provision is a good 
thing because we do not want to reach the point where someone does not have the possibility 
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of a guardian.  The way that temporary guardianship works is that it allows someone, in a 
very limited way, to secure assets and safety.  As far as the time commitment, I do not think 
it would be prohibitive in any way if it were ever to come up.  For example, we have our 
county public guardians and in the rural areas, the district attorney's office might fulfill that 
role.  The question really should be, at what point would we need this final stopgap?  It is for 
those situations that we cannot anticipate.  The counties decide their budgets and what kind 
of staffing they have for their public guardian.  It would be a tragedy if someone was hurt as 
a result of not having someone who is able to speak for that person.  
 
One guardianship that we handled for the Clark County public guardian occurred when a 
man needed to have an amputation.  It was urgent; he did not have the capacity to sign off on 
the amputation, and his family was supportive, but they did not have the legal 
documentation.  He could not confer that authority because he was incapacitated.  The public 
guardian was able to come in on a 48-hour basis to authorize with informed consent and the 
appropriate authority, the amputation that was necessary to assist him.  In that sense, it is 
better to have this kind of language in the bill.  Is it language that compels action?  No, it has 
to do with the evaluation of the circumstances and what may become necessary.  
 
I think that what is unique also is the amicus curiae authority, which is extremely broad.  
That says that, hypothetically, I could go to a court and file an amicus brief at any sort of 
proceeding.  I do not know that there is precedent for that happening, but at the same time, 
I can see the incentive to having authority in the event that we had some kind of crisis of 
safety for someone.  I do understand the concern.  I cannot sit here and say that we will not 
have some kind of situation that requires that assistance.  I personally believe in being 
available if necessary.  These things are time-sensitive and important.  The actual legal work 
is not difficult; it is leveraging of services, getting pay sources, and making sure that the 
doctors get the authorization they need.  Stabilizing the case long enough for the family to 
come in is important as well.  We do not want the State taking advantage of micromanaging 
people's lives.  
 
Chairman Sprinkle: 
From a legislative intent perspective, there is no intent to take over guardianship roles or 
become part of the guardianship process.  You are there to fulfill that role in an emergency, is 
that correct?  
 
Homa Woodrum: 
If you notice, the prior version of that statute included that authority, but only for individuals 
over the age of 60.  If we are going to be looking at legislative intent, the prior legislation 
already felt it was necessary to have that authority.  In keeping with that prior intent, the idea 
would be that we want to expand that authority to include people under the age of 60.  It is 
not a grab for that authority, because that authority already existed.  It is for the specific 
definition of the people covered by the bill.  I agree that it is really meant to be for 
emergencies, definitely more on the health care side and less on the financial side, though 
there are provisions for both.  Ultimately, I would love to figure out what to do so that we do 
not get into this situation.  What can I do to make sure we are educating attorneys and legal 
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service providers to provide wills, trusts, and free access to legal services that are going to 
make sure that people have the proper framework?  How simple it could be if someone had 
simply filled out a form for their daughter to sign off on medical procedures; they would not 
be in guardianship court.  Looking at the bill, we need to be very clear in what we intend.  
 
Chairman Sprinkle: 
Is there anyone who wishes to speak in support of this bill?  
 
Ed Guthrie, CEO Emeritus, Opportunity Village, Las Vegas, Nevada:  
We want to be on record as supporting this bill.  Opportunity Village places dozens of people 
in community employment every year, and we have done it for a number of years now.  
Those individuals do not always have an ongoing relationship with Opportunity Village or 
any service provider.  They are still vulnerable individuals, so they have problems with 
predatory lending and other types of scams.  They need help getting through those types of 
situations.  We are hoping that this will offer them an opportunity to find a way through those 
situations so that they can continue living as independently as possible.  
 
Chairman Sprinkle: 
Is there anyone else in southern Nevada?  [There was no one.]  Is there anyone in 
Carson City? 
 
Erik Jimenez, representing United Cerebral Palsy of Nevada and High Sierra 

Industries:  
I am here on behalf of United Cerebral Palsy of Nevada and High Sierra Industries.  Both of 
the organizations I am representing provide services and advocate for people with disabilities 
in the community.  I just wanted to echo the comments of Mr. Guthrie.  We are in full 
support of this bill.  
 
Jacob Harmon, Regional Director, Alzheimer's Association: 
Beginning with Senate Bill 86 of the 77th Session, the Legislature has been expanding access 
to services for families with early onset Alzheimer's disease and related dementia.  Most 
people living with Alzheimer's disease are over the age of 65, but about 4 percent, or 
approximately 1,600 Nevadans, are living with early-onset Alzheimer's disease or related 
dementia.  Prior to the passage of S.B. 86 of the 77th Session, these families were unable to 
access lifesaving respite services and some of the other education and training services made 
possible by our partnership with Aging and Disabilities Services Division.  We see A.B. 31 
as a continuation of that work begun four years ago, and it would be a huge step forward for 
these families living with early-onset diseases.  It would open up a portfolio of services and 
supports for those families to help them age and progress with this disease at home with 
dignity and avoid costly institutionalization.  For those reasons, we would like to see the 
passage of A.B. 31.  
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Chairman Sprinkle: 
Is there anyone else in support of this bill?  [There was no one.]  Is there anyone in 
opposition to this bill, here or in Las Vegas?  [There was no one.]  Is there anyone neutral to 
this bill?  [There was no one.]  
 
Homa Woodrum: 
I am glad Mr. Harmon mentioned early-onset Alzheimer's disease.  It is so crucial to 
remember that age is an arbitrary cutoff, and we do not want to be limited at all in the 
services that we provide.  Also, there is a lot of overlap between older persons and younger 
persons in terms of grandparent guardianships.  We have older individuals taking care of 
younger family members; if we can serve them across the lifespan, that is beneficial.  Thank 
you for your time and consideration.  
 
Chairman Sprinkle: 
I will close the hearing on A.B. 31.  Is there any public comment?  [There was none.]  Is 
there any comment from Committee members?  [There was none.]  The meeting is adjourned 
[at 2:04 p.m.].  
 
[(Exhibit G) was submitted but not discussed.] 
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EXHIBITS 
 

Exhibit A is the Agenda. 
 
Exhibit B is the Attendance Roster. 
 
Exhibit C is a copy of a PowerPoint Presentation titled "Elder Issues In Nevada" dated 
February 17, 2017, presented by Edward Ableser, Ph.D., Administrator, Aging and Disability 
Services Division, Department of Health and Human Services and Jill Berntson, Deputy 
Administrator, Aging and Disability Services Division, Department of Health and Human 
Services.  
 
Exhibit D is written testimony presented by Shelley Hendren, Administrator, Rehabilitation 
Division, Department of Employment, Training and Rehabilitation, regarding 
Assembly Bill 20.  
 
Exhibit E is a proposed amendment to Assembly Bill 20 presented by Shelley Hendren, 
Administrator, Rehabilitation Division, Department of Employment, Training and 
Rehabilitation.  
 
Exhibit F is written testimony presented by Ed Guthrie, CEO Emeritus, Opportunity Village, 
Las Vegas, Nevada regarding Assembly Bill 20.  
 
Exhibit G is written testimony by Barry Gold, Director of Government Relations, 
AARP Nevada, regarding Assembly Bill 31.  
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